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A LABYRINTH IN EGYPT
At the entrance of the Fayum oasis, the Sesostris II’s funeral city in Kahun: Comparison with the ancient texts describing the Egyptian Labyrinth
by Therese Ghembaza, France
First  Part: A big palace near the mouth of the Joseph’s channel
INTRODUCTION
If we are to believe Pliny the Elder in his Natural History (XXXVI, 13, 19) the first prototype of a series of very specific buildings designated by historians under the generic term "labyrinth" λαβύρινθος in Greek (1) had been built in Egypt. The second one in order of anteriority had been constructed in Crete by Daedalus, the third one in Lemnos, and the fourth one in Italy.
The Greek historian Herodotus (Histories, II, 148) was the first to describe an Egyptian monument named the Labyrinth. He claimed that he himself visited it near the Lake Moeris and the city of crocodiles in the Fayum oasis (2). As for Diodorus of Sicily, a compiler of Roman times, he seems to summarize the description of Herodotus concerning the Labyrinth (BH I, 61; IV, 60-1), but then he appears detailing the same building when speaking of the dodecarchs’ tomb also located near the channel that fed Lake Moeris (now Lake Karun) in Fayum (BH I, 66, 3-6), although he makes of it another monument.
However, there is no evidence that during his visit to Egypt in 60-57 B.C., Diodorus went beyond Alexandria, and his stories about the rest of the country appear as amalgams of older sources, more or less well understood (especially Herodotus, himself indebted to Hecataeus of Miletus, and perhaps a predecessor of Manetho) (3). Thus, concerning the Labyrinth, Diodorus mentions architectural details typical of Greek temples but impossible in a purely Egyptian monument, although an architectural syncretism appeared in the Hellenistic period at Alexandria.

According to Herodotus, Strabo could be the second historian to have actually visited the Labyrinth, because he brings us additional details about the environment and construction of this particular monument (Geogr. XVII, 1, 37). On the other hand, we know that he visited the shrine of crocodiles of Arsinoe in the Fayum in the company of his friend Prefect Aulus Gallus ca. 25-24.B.C. (4). As for Pliny (HN, XXXVI, 13, 19), we have no evidence that he traveled to Egypt, and in any case he seems to confuse several monuments, as his description of the Labyrinth has both new elements and some gross errors. Indeed, he mentioned the existence of a wing (pteron) adjacent to the main building (which could correspond to the village near the great palace mentioned by Strabo), while the presence of small pyramids inside the monument rather resembles the Sesostris I’s funeral complex at Licht. Finally, Pomponius Mela (Chorographia, I, 9, 56), appears to summarize the Herodotus’ description by applying to it his own representation of a circular maze.
But, most of modern Egyptologists consider that this building has completely disappeared (5), when they do not deny that it had ever existed (6). Whereas in the 19th century some people (7) were believing to have identified the Labyrinth as a set of ruins abutting the south side of the Hawara pyramid  (Pharaoh Amenemhat III’s tomb), because according to Manetho (8) the Labyrinth housed the tomb of a ruler named Lamares, what could be a deformation of Ne-maat-re, Amenemhat III’s reign name. (We can remark, however, that Manetho in his chronology of the reigns cited Lamares in the place of Sesostris III). 

Various attempts to reconstitute the site of the Labyrinth were already published by archaeologists, but they mostly relate to the funeral temple of Hawara whose remains are too insufficient to reconstitute its plan with certainty (9). Thus, according to the study conducted by Arnold in 1979 (10), the buildings of Hawara could be comparable to the funeral complex of the pyramid of Djoser at Saqqara (11), where two rows of small chapels devoted to the ancient deified rulers of Upper Egypt (west side) and Lower Egypt (east side) were face to face. We can remark that the entrance of each of these chapels was preceded by two walls in chicane, but these small buildings were not commensurate with the description of the Labyrinth by Herodotus and Strabo. Finally, the well documented article of Claude Obsomer (12) reviewing one by one the older assumptions, confirmed once again the inadequacy of the site of Hawara with the description of the Egyptian Labyrinth by Herodotus.
But, as Obsomer himself said, there is nevertheless another archaeological site dating in the same time, that better matches the story : it is Sesostris II’s funeral city (called Hotep-Senusret in the papyri of the Twelfthh Dynasty), which is located near the Illahun pyramid in a place called Kahun by the inhabitants of the region (13). Now, as the Labyrinth described by ancient authors, this vast architectural complex was located just near the entrance of the Illahun channel (now Bahr Yusef) leading the floodwaters of the Nile to Lake Moeris (whose present lake Birket-el-Karun is only a residual pool).
1° Kahun, a city uniquely situated :
Remarkable for the extreme complexity of its internal structure which was almost entirely reconstituted, the site of Kahun was excavated by Sir Flinders Petrie in 1890 and 1891 (14) (Fig. 1), after he was previously interested in the complex of Hawara (only about ten kilometers to the west), following Lepsius who had previously identified these few scattered ruins as a presumed site for the Labyrinth (7). In fact, Hayes in the third edition of the Cambridge Ancient History (15) was the first to notice in 1971 that the complex of Hawara to match the different descriptions of the Labyrinth palace, should have a structure comparable to the funeral city of Kahun. (That seems to suggest that he had himself already recognized in the disposition of that town some characteristics corresponding to the descriptions of the Labyrinth by ancient authors). But strangely his contemporary Lloyd (16), in order to contradict him, still makes an argument for objecting that a settlement with the size of the Labyrinth (the one described by Herodotus), at a so great distance from the channels had been difficult to provision, whereas the city of Kahun could be  easily supplied by waterway.
Finally, after careful consideration of the disposal of the buildings identified by Lepsius and Petrie in Hawara, Lloyd concluded that it was unfortunately impossible to reconstruct their structure other than by a very rough scheme probably very far from reality, the different descriptions of the Labyrinth revealing in this case very difficult to interpret with so few remains on the ground. So, we found interesting to compare the key data provided by Herodotus and Strabo with the Kahun excavation reports of Sir Flinders Petrie (14), and with the texts of hieratic papyri found there in a pile of rubble near the Sesostris II’s cult temple (17).

2° Geographic location of the Labyrinth according to ancient texts
Firstly, the location of the ruins excavated at Kahun is fully consistent with the ancient texts regarding the site of the Labyrinth. Thus, according to Strabo (XVII, 1, 37): "Near the place where is the entrance of the canal, after about 30 to 40 stages in a straight line, there is a trapezoidal flat where stand a village and a great palace composed of as many palaces as there were formerly nomes in Egypt". And according to Herodotus (II, 148): "At the corner where the Labyrinth ends a pyramid is attached; the way to go to it is under the ground." All these data could well match the environment of Kahun, although the existence of an underground tunnel, which remains PETRIE have identified between the city and its pyramid is currently controversial (18) (Fig. 2). 
3° Inner organization of the Labyrinth

Herodotus (II, 146) further related: "At the death of the priest of Hephaestus (Ptah), Egyptians having recovered their freedom, created twelve kings and divided Egypt into twelve parts." And he described the interior of the building whose construction is attributed by him to the twelve kings: "The Labyrinth had twelve covered courtyards (in Greek "aulai katastegoi" note 19), whose doors were opposite each other, six facing north and six facing south, contiguous, enveloped by a single exterior wall ... Each courtyard was surrounded by a colonnade of white stone." And according to Strabo (XVII, 1, 37): "The hypostyle courtyards were made in a fixed number, because according to an ancient custom, the chiefs of each district, including the priests and priestesses gathered there to sacrifice and do justice. Each nome officer must go to the court intended for him. "
Obviously we find here the same structure of the eastern part of Kahun (Fig. 1) according to Petrie (20): “On both sides of the main artery running east-west, starting with the northeast on a height that allowed it to dominate everything else, he described a building of special importance he called "acropolis" with a building for the guards in front of the entrance. It was probably the part of the city reserved for Pharaoh Sesostris II himself, because after the death of this king the place was used as a dump until the end of the Thirteenth Dynasty. Then, east of the acropolis, in the same alignment and always contiguous, backed to the north wall, there were four “great houses” (45 m x 60 m) built with the same plane, each one of about seventy rooms, followed by a fifth “great house” whose ruins were of smaller dimensions, and finally a sixth "great house" almost completely destroyed, but probably identical to the first four ones. The common plan of the first five "great houses" (Fig. 3) included for each of them, in addition to many rooms, a large rectangular courtyard with a portico of nine columns and a courtyard with a smaller peristyle. Depending on the case, there were one or two entrances on the front, facing south. The main entrance opened into a small courtyard (or hall) from which issued  perpendicularly to the main street two parallel corridors directly leading close to the large covered courtyards on the back of the building. That corresponds to the description of Strabo (XVII, 1.37) telling that: "The courtyards (aulai) were arranged behind a long wall and the roads leading in were exactly opposite of the wall."

On the contrary, on the other side of the main artery, facing the north palaces, starting from the west, there were three “great houses” similar each other (Fig. 4), but whose internal structure was different from that of the north houses: Indeed a great courtyard with eight columns was in central position, and the main entrance was facing north.

Continuing along this side of the street, there were five narrow spans of small dwellings, separated by five secondary arteries perpendicular to the main artery. According to Valbelle (21) these blocks of collective apartments could be built later on the site of two destroyed large houses. Then, there is one last "great house", most part of which has also almost entirely disappeared. Finally, behind the south wall of the first three south “great houses" there were many warehouses. While backing the west wall of this part of the city, perpendicular to the "acropolis" and facing the western end of the main street, there were houses with a dozen of rooms, whose locations were marked by headstones sometimes bearing indications of their size (21).
As for Herodotus (II, 148) he reported that according to the priests who received him "The were two series of rooms, one above the other, some rooms subterraneous, the others above the ground on top of the first ones : 3000 in number, each series being of 1500”. But he recognized he visited only the upper ones, as the priests refused to show him the rooms under the ground because they contained the tombs of kings who built the labyrinth, and those of sacred crocodiles. 
Unfortunately, concerning the funeral city of Kahun, we cannot hope to obtain the exact count of the rooms in the buildings excavated by PETRIE on each side of the main artery, as some of them were already completely destroyed at that time. But considering that all “great houses” do correspond to “the palace composed of many palaces” described by Strabo (twelve according to Herodotus) and accepting the hypothesis that each one had seventy rooms as proposed by Petrie, we have a count of 840 rooms and probably fairly the same number of warehouses in the back of the south “great houses”; what corresponds to the number of 1500 rooms visited by Herodotus. On the other part, it is a fact that numerous houses in Kahun had some cellars dug into the rock and closed by heavy doors, even if their number is far from reaching the 1500 hypothesized.
As for the complex organization of the rooms and accesses inside the “great houses”, each one having only one or two access from the outside, despite of their extent, it confirms perfectly this remark of Herodotus (II, 148) : “The paths to go outside the rooms we visited and the windings to cross the courtyards were extremely complicate and caused to me an endless wonder.”
It is difficult to make a general comment on these “great houses” looking like palaces whose complex structure obviously corresponded to a precise organization. However, we have always found in these buildings something that seems to be one of the main architectural features of the whole construction: it is particularly remarkable that, as early as the entrance, numerous rooms had two or three doors whose only one allowed to progress inside the building. As the other ones opened on closed rooms, what obliged the visitor to make half-turns and come back repeatedly on his way, what quickly caused him to become confuse. So, as Strabo said (XVII, 1, 37) : “It was impossible for a stranger to find his way without the help of a guide”. Obviously this feature is the main characteristic of a labyrinth as firstly described by Herodotus.
We can also notice that these constructions were made of mud bricks covered with a perfectly smooth plaster, what explains why Herodotus and Strabo believed that the walls were made of perfectly adjusted great limestone blocks, without any trace of binding materials (23). Only the thresholds for doors, the bases of columns and some columns were really made of stone.
4° The basement of the Labyrinth:
With regard to the "underground" part of the Labyrinth, which according to the Egyptian priests at Herodotus’ time "contained the tombs of the kings who built the labyrinth at the beginning, and those of the sacred crocodiles", we must consider that “from a cellar which was under one of the houses of the artery perpendicular to the acropolis there was a set of tombs called "Maket’s grave", after the name of one of its earliest occupants. There were found twelve sarcophagi, each containing several bodies (at least fifty people), but their dating in the Nineteenth to the Twentieth dynasties by PETRIE remains controversial (24).
But if for the priests of the Hellenistic Period, these twelve graves could pass for those of the kings who built the city, it seems that for Herodotus these kings could only be those called in Greek the “dodecarchs” (around 680 B.C.), as the complete chronology of the Egyptian kings was probably not known by Greeks before the Manetho’s compilation. And that is probably the reason why Herodotus based on the number of twelve courtyards (aulai), each one corresponding to one of the twelve kingdoms of the dodecarchy (25).
As for the graves of crocodiles, they were found about 2 km north of the Sesostris II’s pyramid. The crocodiles were wrapped in bandages, and eggs were put around their head, as a symbol of immortality. However, jars of black soil found in these tombs seem allow to date them very roughly of the 2nd century A.D. Only two skeletons of very big crocodiles discovered buried inside the enclosure of the Illahun pyramid, on the west side, could be contemporary of the Twelfth Dynasty (26).
5° The "village" near the big palace:
Finally we must now speak of the western part of Kahun which, although adjacent to the eastern part, was completely isolated from it by a thick continuous wall. It included from north to south eleven rows of buildings oriented east-west, most of which seem to repeat endlessly the same module of small dwellings (4 to 6 rooms by flat), so that PETRIE (27) remarked that in the same span almost all modules were superposable with minor exceptions. These buildings were served by a major north-south artery, itself cut at right angles by ten secondary arteries. That is why this housing area whose repetitive plan was so different from the complicated structure of the "great houses" of the east part, seems to fit the "village" near the big palace mentioned by Strabo (XVII, 1, 37) (28). Indeed, Pliny also (HN, XXXVI, 13, 19) noted that there was another complex of buildings outside the wall of the Labyrinth and he designated it as a "wing" (perhaps with the sense of "dependency"), the singular "pteron" (a Greek word written by Pliny in Latin characters) meaning that just as in Kahun there was only one wing.
CONCLUSION:
It thus appears that the whole environment and the structure of the Kahun funeral city could be consistent with the pattern discussed in the ancient texts describing the Egyptian Labyrinth. Indeed, besides the general orientation of the city, the model "kruptoi + aulai" a maze of rooms and dark corridors leading to a large peristyle courtyard as defined by Herodotus and Strabo is especially found in many of the "great houses" along the main street. The identification of the city of Kahun with the palace of the Labyrinth is quite feasible in terms of geographical and architectural features.
Now we must determine whether the functions of this funeral city were actually those that ancient historians attributed to the Labyrinth (29).

Second Part :  Kahun, a funeral city become the administrative capital of Egypt under Sesostris III’s reign
1° The functions of an administrative city:
The construction of the city of Kahun was assigned by Petrie to Sesostris II, fourth king of the Twelfth Dynasty. But according to the findings of Stadelmann in Meidum (30), we know that after the death of the king some members of his family (including his younger sons) and their descendants continued to live in the city for the funeral maintenance and to perpetuate the cult of the deceased in his temple. Thus, after Sesostris II’s death, his successor Sesostris III himself could establish his capital in Kahun, at the edge of the Fayum oasis where he was the first one to make hydraulic works to develop the region (31).
The main elements of appreciation in this area are provided to us by the objects and documents found on the site: so we will consider on the one hand, the many administrative seal impressions (more than 400: samples Fig. 5), found in the ruins of the eastern part of the city (32) and on the other hand, the information provided by the papyri (17).
As for the royal seals, only a few belong to the reigns of Amenemhat II and Sesostris II, while most pertained to Sesostris III and Amenemhet III. (They were accompanied by many private seals which according WEILL (33) could be of a style previously unknown in Egypt, and will be later characteristic of the Hyksos period in the delta).
As for the papyri, all of them seem contemporaneous of Amenemhat III, except one or two dating in the end of the Thirteenth Dynasty. By consequence, none of these documents was assigned to the reigns of Sesostris II and Sesostris III, because they listed these rulers as dead (maâ kheru). However, they bring us valuable information about them: particularly they mention two cities, one named Hetep-Senusret belonging, according to Griffith (34), to Sesostris II, while the other one, named Ha-Senusert according to Gunn (35), (Ankh-Senusert according o Griffith), could be attributed to Sesostris III.
Therefore it is likely that the construction of the city of Kahun undertaken by Sesostris II who died prematurely (8-year reign only), had been for the most part performed under Sesostris III. 
as proved by the large number of seals that belong to his reign, compared with the small number of those engraved with the cartridges of Amenemhat II and Sesostris II.

As for the popular district (the "village" of Strabo) west of Kahun, it was probably reserved for the small staff, as many utilitarian objects and other for worship were found in it ; curiously most of them were not of Egyptian origin, but "Asiatic", both from the Aegean area (Mycenaean pottery and Cypriot statuettes of "Venus with a bird"), and from the Phoenician coast and Asia Minor (measures and inscriptions in Arcado-Cypriote alphabet (anterior to the Phoenician alphabet). The inhabitants of this quarter could be foreign workers, probably come from the Canaanite sphere as they were called "Aamu" on the papyri of the Twelfth and Thirteenth Dynasties (36).
Finally, according to some seals bearing the titular of the Scribe of Hetep-Senusret and Ha-Senusret (Fig. 5), we can think that after the death of his father, Sesostris III had settled his capital called Ha-Senusert at the heart of the Sesostris II’s funeral city, which continued to be maintained by family members, usually responsible for significant civil and religious functions at the royal court. The "great houses" could be designed to the highest dignitaries of the government, while the southeastern part of the city, composed of several rows of small houses with a dozen of rooms could be reserved for officials of lower ranks.
We can also notice that some elements of the "great houses" (peristyle square courts and central basin) are reminiscent of the great villas of the fortress of High Mirgissa in Nubia, which were dated in Sesostris III’s reign (37). Moreover, the villas with a dozen of rooms backing the west wall showed a period of occupation after the Sesostris II’s reign (21).
2° Administrative structure of Egypt under Sesostris III’s reign:
Sesostris III’s reign appears characterized by a strengthening of the royal power, as indicated by the sudden disappearance of the princely tombs housing lineages of nomarchs (region governors) become real sovereigns in their respective provinces. The creation of new administrative units, the "wârets" also demonstrates the new takeover of power throughout the country by the young pharaoh. However, it seems that the old territorial divisions of Egypt, the nomes (Greek term for district), were not removed so far. They had continued to exist, grouped into three administrative regions: the North Wâret with Memphis and the Delta, the South Wâret for Middle Egypt, and the Wâret of the Head of the South for the Thebaid and six adjacent nomes (38). Pliny himself spoke about a division of the Labyrinth in "houses" for the different "regions" and administrative "districts" of Egypt (HN XXXVI, 13, 19).
The most appropriate translation of the Egyptian word "wâret" could be Department because there was also a "Treasury Wâret" (Department of Royal Property ?) and a "Wâret to what the people gives" (Department of taxes ?)  (Pap. Boulaq 18) (39), and there could be others. The wârets, so the various departments, could be settled in the capital itself, each wâret being under the responsibility of an Administrator (see the "Regents of the castles" in the Eighteenth dynasty), assisted by a Delegate Administrator, by a Council of Court (djajât), by wâret officers and a corpse of scribes, the Administrators themselves being under the direct control of the Vizier’s office (40).

That is the reason why the great houses lining the main artery of the east part of Kahun (Ha-Senousret), could also house the offices of the various departments, while the "boards of court" correspond to the meeting of province delegates called in consultation by the central government (a kind of “Etats-Généraux” ?)  sitting in the core of the city in the hypostyle courtyards (the so controversial "aulai katastegoy" of Herodotus), each delegation going to the palace which housed the administration of its wâret. These meetings may correspond to the “panegyries” which were still held in the Labyrinth in the Hellenistic Period according to a Greek papyrus (41).
Indeed, considering the abundance of seal impressions and many official documents and reports found in Kahun, it appears that this city was permanently housing important administrative services, and was at the same time the Sesostris III’s administrative centerwhere was also the Vizier’s Office (42).
After the death of Sesostris III (whose pyramid located in Dashur is often cited in the Fayum papyri), his successor Amenemhat III had built by workers from the west district of Kahun, a new royal residence called Ha-Amenemhat, near Shedit (43) (perhaps at Hawara where some people firstly thought to have located the Labyrinth). But Egypt continued to be administered from Kahun which kept its name of Hotep-Senousret (44) until the end of the Twelfth Dynasty.
Finally, during the Hyksos’ progression to the South, the city eventually submitted to the invaders, explaining why it was completely devastated by the Theban rulers recovering Lower Egypt at the dawn of the Eighteenth Dynasty (32).
However, in the 8th century B.C., the Nubian invader Piankhi (45) mentioned on his stele a city called Pi-Sekhem-kheper-re (i.e. "the city of Sekhem-kheper-re" the reign name of Osorkon I, second pharaoh of the Twenty-Second Dynasty). In this city at the entrance of the Fayum near the mouth of the canal (Ro-hunt), defeated northern soldiers took refuge. So, it can be assumed that this fortress was Kahun because Petrie (46) reported he found a heavy wooden door covered in bronze, marked the cartridge of this pharaoh, in the 4th north “great house”.
Osorkon l, pharaoh of Libyan origin, could have established his residence in Kahun in his time, because it is known that he was interested in the Fayum and had restored the Illahun locks. In addition, according to Grimal (47) the terminology used in the stele of Piankhi indicates that Pi-Sekhem-kheper-re ramparts were previously restored. Finally, it can be easily admitted that such a city like Kahun could support a siege by an army, because its very structure made it impenetrable without an assistance coming from inside. It is by persuasion (by promising lifesaving to the besieged), and not by force, that Piankhi eventually obtained the surrender of the city and several others.
CONCLUSION
It seems therefore that Hetep-Senousret really was a royal residence and the administrative capital of Egypt when reorganized by Sesostris III, as Ity-towy (48) have been after the reunification of Egypt by Amenemhat I at the beginning of the Twelfth Dynasty.
We can, indeed, imagine that Sesostris II having a special attraction for the Fayum (49), built his pyramid in this place, contrarily to his predecessors whose tombs are located farther to North. Moreover, before his death he had appointed his son Sesostris III to perform the major development projects that he had himself designed for this region. Indeed, according to the papyrus Kahun XIII-I, Sesostris III would be the builder of the great reservoir-lake of the Fayum called Lake of Moeris by Greeks.

Sesostris III, sovereign illustrious for having consolidated his borders in Palestine and in Sudan, was magnified in the hymn which was dedicated to him in his lifetime (50) and thus he had been the real architect of the construction of the big city of Hotep-Senousret (then called Ha-Senousret) (51), this "Labyrinth of Egypt" whose size and perfection caused to Greeks even more admiration than the Gizeh pyramids themselves. But the fame of the great Sesostris Kha-kaou-Re (52) seems to have been exceeded at this location by the brightness of the reign of his successor Amenemhat III which was also prestigious and lasted forty-five years. It is probably for this reason that for the historians of the Greco-Roman Period, only the name of pharaoh Lamares (from Ne-maât-re, Amenemhat III’s reign name) remained associated to the Labyrinth construction and to the development of the big lake (53).
Let us finally remark the irony by which the great archaeologist and anthropologist Sir Flinders Petrie, following Lepsius’ thesis, continued to locate the remains of the Labyrinth at Hawara, while he had the chance to discover the fabulous palace city of Kahun.
Notes

(1)  The etymology of the Greek word λαβύρινθος (labyrinth) remains disputed up to now. See H.R. Hall, The two labyrinths, J.H.S., 25, 1905, pp. 323-327 ; J. Yoyotte, Processions géographiques mentionnant le Fayoum et ses localités, BIFAO, 1962 pp. 79/138, 1 pl. ; P. Faure, La Vie quotidienne en Crète au temps de Minos. Paris, 1966 ; A. Quattordio Moreschini, Le Formazioni nominali greche in "INTH" (Incunabula Graeca, 83), 1984, p. 6-7; C. Obsomer, "Laburinthos" : un mot grec à l'origine incertaine.
(2)  Concerning Herodotus’ « Histories », we would like to know if his descriptions come from an eyewitness or they were compiled from some reports of Ionian logographers such as Hecataeus of Miletos and Xanthos the Lydian (L. Pearson, Early Ionian Historians 1 vol., Oxford at the Clarendon Press, 1939, pp. 81-10; J. Myres, Herodotus, 1953). Concerning Egypt, Herodotus himself (Histories, II) several times referred to some Hecataeus’ assertions (Periegesis, Jacoby F 300 à 318) although criticizing him ; but in the whole it remains difficult to distinguish the amount of data he took from him to enrich his own reports (W. Spiegelberg, The credibility of Herodotus account of Egypt, 1926). However in the case of the Egyptian Labyrinth (II, 148), Herodotus took care to distinguish what he really saw himself from what was reported to him. And even if this episode had been taken word for word in Hecataeus’ Periegesis, this would not remove anything to the value of the testimony itself, except it would be older by half a century.
(3)  M. Casewitz, Diodore de Sicile : Naissance des Dieux et des Hommes (Bibliothèque Historique : Livres I et II). Les Belles Lettres, Paris, 1991, bottom of page XXIII) and A. Burton, Diodorus Siculus, Book I. A commentary. Leiden, 1977.
(4)  W. Aly, Strabonis Geographica, Bonn, 1957, vol. 4, pp. 69 and following.
(5)  P. Montet, Géographie de l'Égypte Ancienne, tome II, 1961, p. 210 and L'Egypte Eternelle, Marabout Histoire, MU 302, 1970, p. 287.
(6) O.K. Armayor, Herodotus' autopsy of the Fayum : Lake Moeris and the Labyrinth of Egypt, 1985 and R. Ball, Ancient geographers and the geography of Egypt. 19.
(7) S.R. Lepsius, Denkmäler, Text 11, 10, 1904 ; W. M. F. Petrie, Hawara, Biahmu and Arsinoe, London, 1889, p. 4 and following ; W.M.F. Petrie, W. A. Wainright et E. MacKay, The Labyrinth, Gerseh and Mazguneh, 1 vol., School of Archeology in Egypt, University College, Gower Street, W.C., and B. Quaritch, Londres, 1912, p. 28-35.
(8)  Manetho Fgr H3C and W.G. Waddell, Manetho (Loeb Classical Library), 1948. (frgts 34-36) p. 66-73.
(9)  See in A. B. Llyod, The Egyptian Labyrinth, J.E.A., 56, 1970, pp. 87-89., (p. 81, note 1) who cited his predecessors on the subject.
(10)  D. Arnold, Das Labyrinth und seine Vorbilder, MDAI, K, 35, 1979, 1-10.
(11)  J. P. Lauer, Etudes complémentaires sur les monuments du roi Zoser à Saqqarah. (ler fascicule) Answer to Herbert RICKE.  Suppl. aux Ann. du Service des Antiquités de l'Égypte, Cahier 9, 1948, Le Caire.
(12)  C. Obsomer, Hérodote, Strabon et le "Mystère" du Labyrinthe d'Égypte, In : C. Obsomer, A.L. Oosthoek - Amosiadès, Mélanges offerts au Professeur C. Vandersleyen par ses anciens étudiants. Louvain-la-Neuve 1992, pp.221-333.
(13)  Kahun in modern Egyptian language is pronunced "karun" (h in Arabian = ch in German), what corresponds to the present name of Lake Karun (ancient Lake Moeris). We can also remark that this word in Assyrian language later designed the building where taxes were collected. (Thus the building that inhabitants of Fayum named "Csar Carun" (Obsomer, op. cité pp. 243-244) can only be the fortified city of Kahun, and not the small temple dedicated to Dionysos south-west of the lake, because a “csar” in Arabian language really means a fortress.)
(14)  W. M. F. Petrie, Illahun, Kahun and Gurob, 1 vol., David Nut, London, 1891 : http://www.lib.uchicago.edu/cgi-bin/eos/eos_title.pl?callnum=DT73.I3P5_cop2.
W. M. F. Petrie, Kahun, Gurob and Hawara, 1 vol., K. Paul, Trenck, Trübner & Co., London, 1890 :

http://www.lib.uchicago.edu/cgi-bin/eos/eos_title.pl?callnum=DT73.K3P5_cop1
Royal Ontario Museum, 1990 :

http://www.museum.manchester.ac.uk/collection/ancientegypt/virtualkahun/excavations/;http://www.museum.manchester.ac.uk/collection/ancientegypt/virtualkahun/excavations/royalontariomuseum/.
(15)  W.C. Hayes, C.A.H. 3e edit., 1971, Tome 1, Part 2, p. 512.
(16)  A. B. Llyod, op. cit. pp. 93-94, n. 5.
(17)  F. Ll. Griffith, Hieratic papyri from Kahun and Gurob, 1 vol., B. Quaritch, London, 1898. (Summaries and comments in french by G. Maspéro, J. des Savants, avril 1897, pp. 206-211 ; février 1898, pp. 98-113 ; mars 1898, pp. 145-158.) U. Kaplony-Heckel, Agyptischen Handschriften.  Part 1, F. Steiner, Wiesbaden (Verzeichnis der Orientalischen Handschriften in Deutschland B.XIX.1) ; U. Luft, Illahunstudien. 1. Zur der Chronologie und den Beamten in den Briefen aus Illahun.  Oikumene, 3, 1982, 101-156 and Illahunstudien.  II.  Ein Verteidigungsbrief aus Illahun, Oikumene, 4, 1983, 121-179.
(18) W. M. F. Petrie, G. Brunton, M.A. Murray, Lahun II, 1 vol., School of Archaeology in Egypt, University College, Gower Street WC1, and B. Quaritch, London, 1923, p. 39-40. Encyclopédie ARCHEO, Éditions Atlas, Paris, 1986, vol. 2, p. 180.
(19) J.E. Powell, A Lexikon to Herodotus, 1938, p. 52.
(20)   W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun... (op. cit.), pp. 6-8.
(21)  D. Valbelle, Villes et Campagnes dans l’Égypte Ancienne, Dossier Documentation Française, Paris, 1985, pp. 44-45.
(22)  W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun... (op. cit.) pp. 21-23.
(23)  "All intervals between the stones were filled with a sort of plaster... Sometimes, smoothing was so perfectly realized that one can only detect the presence of coating by some fragments fallen on the ground.” (I.  Pierre, La gravure des textes de la pyramide de Séthi ler.  In "Saqqarah.  Aux origines de l'Égypte pharaonienne".  Les Dossiers d'Archéologie, 1990, N° 146-147, p. 67).
(24) W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun... (op. cit.) p. 7 ; F. von Bissing, Die Datierung des "Maket Grabes", ZAS 35 (1897) 94-97. ; V. Hankey, 0. Tufnell, The tomb of Maket and its Mycenean Import, BSA 68 (1973) 103-111.
(25) We know that there were thirty-eight nomes in Egypt at the beginning of the Twelfth Dynasty according to the reliefs of the White Chapel of Sesostris I in Karnak. (P.  Lacau et H. Chevrier - Une chapelle de Sesostris ler à Karnak, Tome I : Textes, Service des Antiquités de l'Égypte, Le Caire, 1969), but this number could slightly vary under the following reigns; Strabo reported a number of thirty-six nomes (Geographia 17, 1, 3 (C787).
(26)  W.M.F. Petrie et al., Lahun II (op. cit.) p. 39.
(27)  W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun... (op. cit.) p. 8.
(28)  C. Obsomer supposed that the "village" reported by Strabo corresponded to a village at north of the Hawara pyramid or to buildings along the west and south sides of the Amenemhat III’s temple. As for the modern village of Illahun located not far from the city of Kahun near the locks at he entry of the channel, up to now not any ancient ruins could be found under the modern constructions.
(29)  K. Michalowski, The Labyrinth enigma : archeological suggestions. J.E.A. 54, 1968, p. 220.
(30)  R. Stadelmann, La ville de pyramide à l'Ancien Empire.  Rev. d'Egyptol., 33, 1981, 75-77. See also M. Bietak, Urban archeology and the town problem. In K.R. Weeks (ed.) Egyptology and the Social Sciences. Fine studies. Am. Univ. in Cairo Press, 1979, Le Caire, pp. 99 et 115.
(31)  F. Ll. Griffith, op. cit. p. 52.
(32)  W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun... (op. cit.) p. 14, pls IX, X ; W.M.F. Petrie et al., Lahun II... (op. cit.) p. 41, pls.  LXIV, LXV.
(33)  R. WEILL, La fin du Moyen Empire égyptien. Etude sur les monuments et l'histoire de la période comprise entre la XIIe et la XVIIIe dynasties. Ann. Musée Guimet, 1918, 851 pages.
(34)  F. Ll.Griffith, op. cit., p. 89.
(35)  B. Gunn, The name of the pyramid-town of Sesostris II, J.E.A. 31, 1945, 106-107.
(36)  W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun... op. cit., p. 9 ; G. Posener, Les Asiatiques en Égypte sous les XIIe et Xllle dynasties, SYRIA, 1957, 34, 145-163 ; J. Van Seters, The Hyksos : a new investigation, Yale University Press, New Haven, London, 1966, pp. 90-96.
(37)  J. Vercoutter, Mirgissa.  Vol.  I., P. Geuthner, Paris, 1970, p. 9, pl.  Vla.
(38)  W.C. Hayes, Note on the gouvernment of Egypt in the Late Middle Kingdom. J.N.E.S., 1953, 12, p. 31-39 ; G. Posener, Littérature et politique de l'Egypte de la XlIe dynastie, H. Champion, Paris, 1956, p. 21-23 ; W. Helck, Zur Verwaltung des mittleren und neuen Reich. Problem der Ägyptologie, 1958, 3, 241-243.
(39)  A. Mariette, Les papyrus égyptiens du musée de Boulaq, tome II, Paris, 1872, pages 6 and following.
(40)  A. Moret, L'Égypte pharaonique.  In "Histoire de la Nation Égyptienne".  G. Hanoteaux, tome II, Sté de l'Histoire Nationale, Le Caire, et Librairie Plon, Paris, 1932, p. 549.
(41)  C. Obsomer, op. cité, p. 229 (P. Caire, Zén. 59815 (257 avt J.C.)
(42)  F. Ll. Griffith, op. cit. p. 35 : Papyrus K I.2 (Il. 9-18): "The fact that the name of Ptah be included in the name of the scribe’s father means that the Vizier’s office was not far from Memphis”, thus possibly in Kahun. 
(43 ) F. Ll. Griffith, op. cit p. 89.
(44) F. Ll. Griffith, op. cit p. 52.

(45) N. C. Grimal, La Stèle triomphale de Pi(Anch)y au musée du Caire. (JE 48862 et 47086.47089), Institut d'Archéologie Orientale, Le Caire, 1981, p. 227, Note 28.
(46) W.M.F. Petrie, Illahun...  (op. cit.) p. 25.
(47) N.C. Grimal, op. cit. p. 84, note 235.
(48) W.K. Simpson, Studies in the Twelfth Egyptian dynasty: I. The residence of Itj-Towy.  JARCE, 2 (1963) 53-59.

(49) P.M. IV, p. 99 and M. Chaaban, Rapport sur une mission à l'obélisque d'Abgig (Fayoum), ASAE 26 (1926) 105-108.
(50) F. Ll. Griffith, op. cit., p. 1-3.
(51) F.Ll. Griffith, op. cit. p. 26 : Pap.  K IV.1 line 2 "The presence of the king’s prenomen in the name of the priest of the residence suggests it was built by Sesostris III.”
(52)  R.D. Delia, A study of the reign of Senousret III. publ. doc. dissert.  Philosophy, New York Columbia University, 1980, Univ. Microfilms Internat., London, Ann Arbor, 1982.
(53)  Ne-maât-râ was translated in Greek by Nemesis (PLINE NH 36, 13 (19). For Greeks, this goddess was the symbol of the Divine Justice. We can also remark that Metis, the wisdom goddess and Athena’s mother, seems to be a Greek avatar of the Egyptian Maât

